## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-01509-SCT

FILED

## MARVIN TERRELL KING

NOV 1 2 2009

APPELLANT

vs.

÷ .

ι.

. .

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

APPELLEE

#### BRIEF OF APPELLANT

## (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

Prepared by:

Abbie L. Eason, Law Student/Special Counsel Criminal Appeals Clinic The University of Mississippi School of Law Lamar Law Center Post Office Box 1848 University, MS 38677-1848 Telephone: 662.915.5560 Facsimile: 662.915.6842

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES

## ISSUE ONE:

## WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO SUSTAIN THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SET ASIDE THE JURY'S VERDICT (J.N.O.V.), AS THE STATE'S CASE-IN-CHIEF FAILED TO MAKE OUT A LEGALLY SUFFICIENT *PRIMA FACIE* CASE BY CREDIBLE EVIDENCE.

## **ISSUE TWO:**

## WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY OVERRULING THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT OR A NEW TRIAL SINCE THE WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE PRESENTED DID NOT SUPPORT A VERDICT OF GUILTY BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT BY CREDIBLE EVIDENCE.

#### **ISSUE THREE**:

## WHETHER A SUBSTANTIAL RIGHT OF THE APPELLANT WAS AFFECTED BY THE SPECULATIVE, CONCLUSATORY, AND HYPOTHETICAL BALLISTICS TESTIMONY GIVEN BY DR. STEVEN HAYNE THAT IMPROPERLY WENT FAR BEYOND THE SCOPE OF HIS EXPERTISE AS A FORENSIC EXAMINER.

#### STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Marvin Terrell King is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

## STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2004).

## **STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORAL ARGUMENT**

This case is very fact-intensive and the Appellant, through counsel, would respectfully request this Court to grant oral argument to present conflicts in the rulings of the trial court based on the evidence and testimony presented at trial that are alleged by the Appellant to be erroneous.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Of all the things that happened on the night of May 9, 2004, one fact is undisputed – the death of Woquin Robinson (hereinafter "Mr. Robinson") was unnecessary. Justice demands someone pay for this crime, but justice requires the right man pay for his crimes. Yet, sizable doubt exists as to who was actually shooting at the so-called Project Boys that night, as well as to who pulled the trigger on the gun that killed Mr. Robinson. Due to an incompetent investigation surrounding the shooting, as well as the deceit and betrayal of the witnesses that took the stand against the Appellant, the wrong man is serving a life sentence for a murder he did not commit.

Many entirely different stories were told about the events which led up to the death of Mr. Robinson. On the night of May 9, 2004, the L & L Lounge was the popular place to be. The "ringleader" of this tragic turn of events, Byron Jones (hereinafter "Jones"), was at the L & L when he got into an argument with a fellow club-goer. (T. I. 28) Angry and frustrated as a result of the argument, he called the Appellant, Marvin King (hereinafter "Marvin"), looking for a ride home. (T. I. 29) As any good friend would do, Marvin got in the car with another friend, and they headed out to pick up Jones. Allegedly, the men had two guns in the car with them, a .38 caliber pistol and a more powerful SKS semi-automatic rifle. (T. I. 68-69) The driver of the car, Ja'Quarius Wright (hereinafter "Wright"), testified that Marvin brought these two weapons from his house to carry with them, keeping the SKS for himself and later passing off the .38 to Jones when he got in the car. (T. I. 78)

After picking up the ringleader, the three men rode around town until they noticed the Project Boys at a local gas station. (T. I. 73) It is unclear why the Project Boys, who were from a rival neighborhood, sparked the group's interest that night. According to Jones, it was Marvin who ultimately decided "to get" the Project Boys, and who instructed Wright to follow their car. (T. I. 31) However, Jones' and Wright's testimonies differ entirely about who initially brought up the idea of "getting" the men whom Jones argued with less than an hour earlier. According to Wright, it was the ringleader, Jones, who said, "There they go," referring to the Project Boys. (T. I. 73) Wright also made an initial statement to police

revealing Jones, still angry from his lounge experience, had expressed hatred towards the Project Boys when he first spotted them at the gas station. (T. I. 95) However, it is unclear as to whether Jones was referring to the man he had the altercation with at the L & L or the Project Boys in general. (T. I. 59) Furthermore, Wright testified that the ringleader was angry and hostile when picked up from the club (T. I. 70), and the ringleader himself testified he was so mad upon leaving the L & L, he kicked the door on the way out. (T. I. 28)

Either way, both Wright and Jones testified Marvin was in the car that followed the Project Boys down the street and into a neighborhood to take some of the passengers home. Testimony at trial revealed that Jones and Marvin were allegedly dropped off down the street in order to hide in the bushes and wait for the Project Boys to pass. (T. I. 35, 75-77) One of the Project Boys, Nacardis Williams (hereinafter "Williams"), was dropped off at his girlfriend's house seconds before the shooting commenced and was the sole eyewitness. (T. II. 167) Although he gave a statement to police and investigators that he saw "the Jones brothers" shooting at him, Williams did not testify at trial. (T. II. 167) The ringleader, Jones, testified at trial that yes, he did participate in the shooting, but claimed he did not shoot at Mr. Robinson's car. (T. I. 38-40)

The ringleader's brother, Derrick Jones, proves to be the missing piece to this puzzle. His alibi was never thoroughly investigated by police or included in the police file. (T. II. 149-152) The other witnesses, namely Wright and Jones, called by the State testified Derrick Jones was not with them that night. However, a police officer who responded to the shooting and attempted to investigate the case testified he actually saw Derrick Jones at the L & L

-4-

Lounge shortly before the shooting occurred. (T. II. 186) The alibi given by Derrick Jones was that he was with his girlfriend at a hotel in nearby Greenville. (T. II. 177) The police supposedly went to the hotel and had the clerk identify a photo of Derrick Jones to see if he had really been at the hotel. (T. II. 184) When it was learned he had checked into the motel that day, they crossed him off the suspect list and moved on with the investigation. However, nothing about this was in the police file or given to defense counsel at discovery. (T. II. 151-56) Uncertainty still exists about where Derrick Jones was in between the time he left the club and the time he checked into the motel. Unfortunately, due to an inadequate police investigation and the fact Derrick Jones is now deceased, no one will ever really know which version of these events is true.

After the shooting, Jones testified he and the Appellant fled on foot through some woods to another street. (T. I. 40-41) However, Jones' pre-trial statement to police was that Marvin called him and admitted to acting alone in the shooting and asked him if he would hold the gun. (T. I. 46) Jones admitted at trial this initial statement was a lie, told only because he was "under a lot of pressure." (T. I. 46)

The third man, Wright, who heard the shots on his way home, called Jones and Marvin to find out where they were. (T. I. 41, 79) After he came back and picked them up, the group went to Charles Thomas' (hereinafter "Thomas") house, a mutual friend, where they dropped off the SKS semi-automatic. (T. I. 43, 81) Thomas, who took the gun, testified it was Jones who gave him the gun. (T. I. 128) However, Jones and Wright, the driver of the car, testified Marvin was the one who passed the gun over (T. I. 43, 81) Despite the rampant

î

ι.

i.

ł.

-5-

inconsistencies in testimony, the investigator chose to disbelieve and ignore the testimony of the man who actually received the gun, Thomas. (T. II. 148) The investigator only revealed Thomas' statement implicating Jones after being repeatedly questioned on cross-examination by defense counsel. (T. I. 147-48) The other gun used in the shooting, the .38 caliber pistol, was never recovered because the ringleader supposedly gave it to his brother who later sold it. (T. I. 45) This is the same brother, Derrick Jones, the sole eyewitness puts at the scene and whose alibi was never competently investigated.

Jones, Wright, and Marvin were all arrested for their involvement in this shooting. They were each indicted on counts of murder, conspiracy, and assault. (CP. 1-2, RE 23-24) However, Marvin was the only one who went to trial. At the time of the Appellant's trial, Jones had accepted a plea deal for manslaughter and was serving a twenty-year sentence concurrently with an eight-year sentence for an unrelated drug offense. (T. I. 46-47) The status of Wright's case was unknown at the time of trial; he testified before pleading guilty and did not know the exact status of his case. (T. I. 89)

The police never received the same story from any of those interviewed, and received multiple statements from many who were questioned. Eventually, all stories by those involved appeared to point the finger at Marvin, but with no conclusive evidence, only bare accusations. The end result of this tragic night was not only that one of the bullets from one of the guns shot by one of the men killed the victim, but also that someone is doing time for a crime no one can be assured he committed.

On the 22nd and 23rd days of August 2006, Marvin plead not guilty and stood trial

E

on one count of murder, two counts of aggravated assault, and one count of conspiracy in the Circuit Court of Washington County. (T. I. 1)

Following voir dire, a jury was seated and the State presented its case-in-chief. The State called nine witnesses to the stand, including Jones and Wright, both of whom were indicted along with Marvin. Other witnesses called by the State were Dr. Steven Hayne (hereinafter "Dr. Hayne") and two investigators with the Leland Police Department, Byron Vaughn (hereinafter "Vaughn") and Juan Overton (hereinafter "Overton").

As the State's first witness, Jones testified it was Marvin and he that did the shooting on the night of May 9, 2004. (T. I. 36-37) According to Jones, a verbal altercation occurred earlier that night at the L & L Lounge. (T. I. 28) After leaving L & L, Jones called Marvin and stated he had been involved in an altercation. (T. I. 29) According to Jones, Marvin and Wright then picked him up as he was walking home.

After being picked up, Jones testified the three men began riding around Leland until they saw Mr. Robinson's car parked in the Double Quick parking lot. (T. I. 31) After making a block around the Double Quick, the men parked in a vacant lot across the street and waited on Mr. Robinson's car to leave. (T. I. 32) According to Jones, Marvin then ordered Wright to follow Mr. Robinson's car. Having seen Williams at the Double Quick, the ringleader, Jones, stated he knew where the car was going – to take Williams to his girlfriend's house on Lewis Street, which also happens to be the same street Jones lives on. (T. I. 34-35) After following Mr. Robinson's car, Jones testified Wright dropped Marvin and he off at the corner of Wilson and Lewis Streets, which is different from the testimony later given by Wright.

-7-

After getting out of the car, Jones testified that Marvin hid behind the bushes at the corner of Wilson and Lewis while he stood at the corner awaiting Mr. Robinson's car to drive by. (T. I. 36) According to Jones, as Mr. Robinson's car entered the intersection at Wilson and Lewis, Marvin began firing from the bushes toward the car, at which time Jones stated he fired two shots in the direction of Williams in an attempt to "scare him." (T. I. 39-40) During the shooting, Jones testified Williams and he made eye contact.

After the shooting, Jones testified Marvin and he were picked up by Wright a short distance from where the shooting took place. (T. I. 41-42) According to Jones, the three went to Thomas' house where Marvin exited the vehicle with the rifle. After dropping off Marvin at Thomas' house, Jones was later dropped off at a corner store near his house. (T. I. 44) At this time, Jones testified he still had in his possession the .38 caliber handgun used during the shooting, which he later gave to his brother, Derrick Jones. (T. I. 45) Jones was arrested later that night, and admitted during his testimony to giving a false initial statement, one that placed the entire blame on Marvin. (T. I. 45-46)

On cross-examination defense counsel questioned Jones as to whose idea it was to "get" Mr. Robinson's car. Defense counsel asked Jones the following revealing questions:

- Q. Did you tell Ja'Quarius: Man, I'm tired of this shit. I'm tired of those weak ass n\*\*\*\*s and this bullshit. Did you tell Ja'Quarius that?
- A. No.

:

1

- Q. So, if he said that, he would be lying?
- A. King said that.

- Q. If Ja'Quarius said you said that, he would be lying, right?
- A. (No response.)
- Q. If Ja'Quarius said that, he would be lying; is that right?
- A. No, he wouldn't.
- Q. No, he wouldn't?
- A. (Witness shakes head negatively.)
- Q. Did you say that, then?
- A. Yes.

## (T. I. 58-59, RE 32-33)

The State's next key witness was Wright. (T. I. 65) According to Wright, he and Jones are cousins. (T. I. 66) He also testified he was driving the car on the night of May 9, 2004, and dropped Marvin and Jones off and picked them up following the shooting. (T. I. 69) However, in contrast to Jones' testimony, Wright testified he dropped Marvin and Jones off at the intersection of Wilson and Hill Streets, not at Wilson and Lewis as Jones testified. (T. I. 77) On cross-examination, defense counsel questioned Wright concerning the two statements he gave to the Leland Police Department. (T. I. 92-102) During crossexamination, Wright also admitted giving a false initial statement to police.

The next witness called upon by the State was Vaughn, an investigator for the Leland Police Department. (T. I. 135) During direct examination, Vaughn stated he and another officer questioned Williams at the scene following the shooting. (T. I. 139) According to Vaughn, he and the other officer, Overton, came up with two suspects based on the conversation with Williams – Byron Jones and Marvin King. However, during crossexamination when asked by defense counsel, Vaughn told a different story. After reviewing the statement given by Williams, Vaughn admitted that Williams, in his statement, stated he saw Byron Jones and Derrick Jones do the shooting, <u>not</u> Byron Jones and Marvin King as he testified to on direct examination. (T. I. 148) During his interview with Williams at the scene, Vaughn asked Williams was he sure he saw the "Jones boys" do the shooting, and Williams said yes, he was sure. (T. I. 149)

Based on the statement by Williams, Vaughn testified Jones was arrested the same day as the shooting, May 9, 2004. However, according to the report filed by Vaughn, Derrick Jones was unable to be located. (T. I. 150) Although, much to the surprise of defense counsel, Vaughn testified he was later able to locate Derrick Jones at a hotel in Greenville, Mississippi, nothing about which was provided in the police investigation or in the discovery furnished by the State.

On re-cross, defense counsel questioned Vaughn regarding his investigation into Derrick Jones' involvement in the shooting:

- Q. Investigator Vaughn, I believe I asked you yesterday afternoon when we took the break, and you said you had gotten the card from the motel?
- A. Yes.
- Q. But you don't have a copy of that card in your file?
- A. No, not at this time.
- Q. And you didn't put anything in the file about this investigation as it pertains

to going to the motel?

A. No, I didn't, no.

(T. II. 161-62)

Following Vaughn's testimony, the State called Overton to the witness stand. (T. II. 163) Similar to the testimony given by Vaughn after being questioned by defense counsel, Overton stated during the crime scene investigation the night of the shooting, he gathered the names of two suspects – Byron Jones and Derrick Jones. (T. II. 167) He testified that, acting upon information provided by Williams, Jones was arrested and subsequently questioned at the Leland Police Department. During Jones' statement, a statement he admitted on the witness stand to not being completely truthful, he gave Marvin's name and advised Marvin was the shooter on the night of the accident. (T. II. 168) Like Vaughn, Overton testified to locating Derrick Jones at a hotel in Greenville, nothing about which was in any report provided by the Leland Police Department. (T. II. 177) Overton also testified to finding seventeen shell casings at the accident scene, which were sent to the Mississippi Crime Laboratory for comparisons and fingerprints. However, according to Overton, no fingerprints were retrieved from the seventeen casings. (T. II. 180)

On cross-examination, Overton admitted Thomas actually gave three statements to the police, although he testified on direct Thomas gave two. (T. II. 184) Overton also testified to the investigation into Derrick Jones. He even admitted the front desk clerk at the motel in Greenville identified Derrick Jones in a photo lineup:

Q. Couldn't I come to Greenville and check in as Derrick Jones at a motel?

- A. Yes, but the clerk identified him by a picture, by a photo lineup.
- Q. Did you say anything about that in your report?
- A. No, I didn't.
- Q. Did you say anything about the clerk even identifying him in your report?
- A. No, I didn't.
- Q. Don't you think that's important?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Well, why isn't it in your report?
- A. Because we had excluded him from the investigation. He was never charged,he was only a suspect, so I didn't put it in the report.

(T. II. 184-85)

Overton also admitted to seeing both of the "Jones boys" leave the L & L Lounge around 2:00 a.m. (T. II. 187) The police received the 911 call at 2:29 a.m. (T. II. 282)

The State's final witness was Dr. Steven Hayne. (T. II. 202) Dr. Hayne was sworn in and stipulated as an expert by defense counsel in the field of clinical and forensic pathology. (T. II. 203) Following his autopsy report, Dr. Hayne also testified as to his opinion as an expert in the field of ballistics, in particular, which weapon actually killed Mr. Robinson. (T. II. 213-17. RE. 35-39)

At the close of the State's case-in-chief, defense counsel motioned to dismiss each of the four counts against Marvin. His motion was denied. (T. II. 219)

Following defense counsel's motion to dismiss, the defense put on its case-in-chief,

which included an opening statement and one witness, Thomas, who stated he knew Fred Jones, the "Jones boys" father. He also testified Fred Jones works for the City of Leland. (T. II. 224) He also admitted the "Jones boys" mother threatened him, stating, "because of you, bitch," only days before the trial. (T. II. 229)

After deliberating nearly two hours, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on all charges. (CP. 149-50, T. II. 271, RE. 25) Subsequently, as to count one, conspiracy to commit murder, Marvin was sentenced to twenty years. As to count two, murder, Marvin was sentenced to life in prison. Finally, as to counts three and four, aggravated assault, Marvin was sentenced to fifteen years on both. As there is a life sentence involved, all of the sentences were ordered to run concurrently. (CP. 151-52, T. II. 273-74, RE. 26-27)

The defense filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for a new trial. (CP. 158, RE. 28-29) These motions were denied by the trial court. (CP. 164, RE. 30) Feeling aggrieved by the verdict and sentence of the lower court, the Appellant herein perfected this appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court on July 28, 2008. (CP. 214, RE.31)

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Due to the series of events beginning with an incompetent investigation surrounding the shooting death of Mr. Robinson, compounded by prosecution witnesses who gave mendacious testimony at trial, and a handful of admitted gang members who falsely placed the blame on the Appellant, Marvin is now serving a life sentence for a murder he did not commit. It was clear the State's evidence was manipulated to make it appear as though Marvin fired the gun that killed Mr. Robinson. However, there was no conclusive, credible, nor believable evidence proving that Marvin was even present during the shooting, much less that he fired the gun whose bullet struck and killed Mr. Robinson. The jury in Marvin's trial found him guilty based on both legally insufficient and patently unreliable evidence that should have placed more than even a reasonable doubt in any rational juror's mind. Marvin was convicted by a jury who wanted and needed to see someone pay for this heinous crime in a city plagued by gang violence. However, justice requires the right person pay for this crime, and after examining the evidence put on by the State, it is clear Marvin King is not that person.

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