## MARVIN TERRELL KING

VS.

•

APPELLANT

NO. 2008-KA-1509

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI** 

#### **APPELLEE**

# **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### **APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

## JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

# BY: JOHN R. HENRY SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

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

The First Assignment of Error is without merit.

## Weight of the evidence

The standard of review applicable to an allegation that a trial court erred in denying relief on

a motion for a new trial is as follows:

A motion for new trial challenges the weight of the evidence. A reversal is warranted only if the trial court abused its discretion in denying a motion for new trial." (Citation omitted) . . .

[w]hen reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. *Herring v. State,* 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997). We have stated that on a motion for new trial:

the court sits as a thirteenth juror. The motion, however, is addressed to the discretion of the court, which should be exercised with caution, and the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict.

Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc., 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss.2000).... [T]he evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. Herring, 691 So.2d at 957.

*Pruitt v. State*, No. 2008-KA-01405-SCT, Slip Op. At 3 - 4 (Miss., decided 28 January 2010, Not Yet Officially Reported).

The Appellant, relying principally upon *Thomas v. State*, 92 So. 225 (Miss. 1922)<sup>4</sup>, asserts that the testimony was so highly contradictory and unreasonable and so highly improbable of the truth that this Court should order a new trial. In support of this notion, he launches yet another attack on the testimony of the law enforcement officer and of Jones.

As for the supposed contradictory testimony by the witness Vaughn, it is true that the officer stated that he settled upon Byron Jones and the Appellant as his suspects. It is also true that he admitted in his report that Williams told him that Jones and his brother were the shooters. It is also true, though, that Vaughn explained the apparent discrepancy. Jones' brother was not present but was in Greenville or on the way to Greenville at the time of the shooting. (R. Vol. 3, pg. 150; Vol.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Thomas v. State, 129 Miss. 332, 92 So. 225 (1922). Rule 28(e)(2)(i) M.R.A.P.

4, pp.160 - 161). Simply stated, law enforcement found out where Jones' brother was at the time of the shooting. While not stated explicitly in the record, it is obvious that they determined that Williams was incorrect about Jones' brother.

The Appellant then attempts to say that officer Overton gave contradictory testimony when he was asked whether he had seen any of the people involved in the investigation at the club. He stated in response that he saw Jones. He did not say at that time that he also saw Jones' brother. (R. Vol. 4, pg. 176). Later, on cross - examination, he stated that he saw Jones' brother (R. Vol. 4, pg. 186). We fail to see any inconsistency. The witness was asked if he had seen anyone involved in the investigation at the club. Jones' brother was not one of those so involved. The witness answered the question asked. On other hand, when asked by the defense whether he saw Jones' brother, he readily admitted that he had. There are no "glaring inconsistencies" or "blatant contradictions" save in the Appellant's fervid imagination.

Then there is more carping about Byron Jones and the deal he made with the State. This was all fully explored at trial, and it was for the jury to determine whether or how much of his testimony was to be believed. It should recalled that Jones' testimony was corroborated by Wright. Whether Jones initially admitted having to Wright about what he was tired of is insignificant in view of the testimony concerning the Appellant's actions with respect to the rifle. To the extent that the Appellant means to suggest that Jones was the one who originated the idea to attack Robinson and his crew, there is nothing but the Appellant's rank speculation to support that notion. We would point out, too, that, assuming for argument that Jones was the one who brought up the idea of attacking Robinson and his fellows, the Appellant clearly participated in any such idea. If those were the facts, and they are not, they would work no advantage for the Appellant. The Appellant's actions under that theory would show aiding and abetting. One who aids and abets a felony is guilty as a principal. *Swinford v. State*, 653 So.2d 912 (Miss. 1995).

The Appellant then claims that Wright had reasons to lie. Again, this was a matter for the jury to consider.

The Appellant says that the town was "ravaged" by gang violence and that the jury, its members desperate to bring a halt to such, could not consider the evidence impartially. There is nothing but the Appellant's say-so to support the claim that the town is or was "ravaged" by gang violence. This factual allegation is thus to be ignored. *Mason v. State*, 440 So.2d 318 (Miss. 1983). There is no basis in this record to support the suggestion that the jurors were unable to consider the facts of the case impartially on account gang activity.

The facts of this case are utterly unlike those in *Thomas*, *supra*. In *Thomas*, the facts were that the body of a well regarded white man was found at the gate of his residence. There was a concerted effort in the community to find the perpetrator. That effort included seizing that appellant, taking him to a wood, and whipping him in the hope of extracting a confession from him. He protested his innocense all through that degradation. Some ten or so days later, a young girl was found who averred that she had seen Thomas lifting the body of a white man and that he carried that body into a wood. The child said she had seen this even though she was some 100 or more yards distant from the point where she said she saw Thomas, and even though it was between dusk and dark when she said she espied Thomas and the white man, and even though she said nothing of what she had seen until some ten days or so had passed. For these and other reasons set out in the opinion, the Mississippi Supreme Court set aside the verdict of murder against Thomas and remanded the matter for a new trial.

To set the basic facts of *Thomas* out is of itself sufficient to demonstrate the inapplicability of that decision here, if the facts of the case at bar are in mind. In the case at bar, the Appellant, after receiving the telephone call from Jones, put an assault weapon into Wright's car, Wright and he then proceeding to locate and pick up Jones. From that point they drove to a local business, and, after

seeing Robinson and his fellows, decided to track down Robinson. The Appellant had his rifle, or had it passed to him, and he gave Jones a handgun. Wright subsequently dropped Jones and the Appellant off. The Appellant carried his rifle with him. The Appellant shot at the vehicle Robinson was driving, killing Robinson and injuring two others. Wright picked Jones and the Appellant up; the Appellant had possession of the rifle. The three then drove to Thomas' residence, where Thomas took possession of the rifle.

The account of what the Appellant did came from three witnesses. It may be that there were conflicts in some minor and largely tangential areas, but the essential story of what occurred was not in conflict. While the Appellant attempts to make much of what he says the police officers did not do with respect to Jones' brother, the lone suggestion that Jones' brother could have been involved was found to be an erroneous report. Jones and his brother did not leave the club together. There was absolutely no testimony that anyone was present in Wright's car at any time prior to and after the shooting other than Wright, Jones and the Appellant. There is likewise no dispute in the record that it was the Appellant who had the high - powered assault rifle before and after the shooting.

Now, while the Appellant has complained mightily about what he considers to be the weakness of the State's case, we point out that the Appellant did not testify, a passing strange thing indeed if there be any truth to the suggestion that everyone committed perjury in order to pin the blame on him so as to protect a relation or friend. Be that as it may, though, one thing is certain and that is that the verdict cannot possibly be said to be opposed by the great weight of the evidence. There is little to no evidence opposed to verdict. The Appellant presented but one witness in his case - in - chief, and that witness merely went into whether it was Jones or the Appellant who gave the rifle to Thomas.

The Second Assignment of Error should is without merit.

# 2. THAT THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN PERMITTING THE FORENSIC PATHOLOGIST TO TESTIFY CONCERNING THE VELOCITY OF THE BULLET THAT STRUCK AND KILLED THE VICTIM

In the Third Assignment of Error, the Appellant contends that the trial court erred in permitting the forensic pathologist, Dr. Steven Hayne, to testify that the bullet that struck and killed Robinson was a high velocity bullet. It is said that this testimony was outside the field of forensic pathology.

The Appellant admits that there was no objection to Hayne's testimony. However, he attempts to invoke plain error to overcome this deficiency, citing *Wilson v. State*, 21 So.3rd 572 (Miss. 2009). However, this Court <u>did not</u> hold in *Wilson* that "plain error" cured the consequences of a lack of an objection to Dr. Hayne's testimony. In fact, it upheld the State's position that the issue was barred on account of the lack of an objection. It then went on to briefly discuss the issue concerning Dr. Hayne, a thing this Court often does after finding that an issue is procedurally barred on account of the lack of a proper and timely objection. *Wilson*, at 589.

Because there was no objection to Dr. Hayne's testimony, the issue embraced by the Third Assignment of Error may not be considered here. *Bell v. State*, 725 So.2d 836, 853 (Miss. 1998). Furthermore, the Appellant may not now be heard to complain of Hayne's testimony in view of the fact that the Appellant did not object to Dr. Hayne's qualifications and did not *voir dire* Dr. Hayne. (R. Vol. 4, pg. 203). *Keys v. State*, 2007-KA-02221-COA Slip Op. At 5 (Miss. Ct. App., decided 13 October 2009, Not Yet Officially Reported)(citing *Baine v. State*, 604 So.2d 249 (Miss. 1992)). As the so-called "plain error doctrine" has not circumvented the operation of a procedural bar resulting from the lack of a proper and timely objection with respect to testimony in the area of forensic pathology and with respect to Dr. Hayne in particular, it has no application here either.

Assuming for argument that the Third Assignment of Error is properly before the Court, there is no merit in it. Dr. Hayne testified that he was familiar with injuries caused by bullets fired by an

SKS rifle, and familiar with injuries caused by .38 caliber projectiles. He testified as to the velocities of the two firearms. He was of the opinion that a high velocity bullet, fired from a rifle, struck Robinson given distance involved, the fact that the bullet went through two objects before striking Robinson, and in view of the injury Robinson suffered. (R. Vol. 4, pp. 214 - 217). This kind of testimony has been held to be a subfield of forensic pathology. *Keys, supra; see also Williams v. State*, 964 So.2d 541 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

Furthermore, in *Dycus v. State*, 875 So.2d 140 (Miss. 2004), this Court held that Dr. Hayne was properly permitted to testify that a bullet he found in the decedent in that case in the course of autopsy was consistent with certain caliber bullet. This Court found that Dr. Hayne's experience in investigating deaths resulting from gunshot wounds was a sufficient basis to permit him to testify concerning the caliber of the bullet. *Dycus*, at 156

The testimony given by Hayne in the case at bar was that was familiar with the velocities of projectiles fired by an SKS rifle and a .38 caliber handgun. He also stated that he was familiar with injuries caused by such projectiles. On the other hand, as in *Dycus*, Hayne did not testify that Robinson was shot with the SKS rifle involved in the case at bar. All Hayne did here was to explain why he believed the injury was caused with by a high velocity bullet. The trial court committed no abuse of its discretion in permitting Hayne to so testify in view of Hayne's unchallenged testimony concerning his familiarity with the velocities of bullets fired from such guns and familiarity with the wounds caused by such bullets.

Hayne's testimony was not "off the cuff", and it was not remotely similar to the testimony he gave in *Edmonds v. State*, 955 So.2nd 787 (Miss. 2007)<sup>5</sup>. While we suppose the Appellant cannot be faulted in his attempt to shoehorn the case at bar into *Edmonds*, the fact is that Hayne

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Testimony which, it ought to be pointed out, was elicited by the defense in that case.

clearly demonstrated his basis for his views and his competency to express his views in the case at bar. The trial court committed no abuse of discretion in permitting Hayne to so testify.

The Appellant suggests that the weapons examiner was the one who might have expressed an opinion concerning high velocity bullets. Perhaps this is so, perhaps it is not. But it is highly unlikely that that witness would have had the training and experience to testify to such from the perspective of a forensic pathologist. In any event, that another witness might have had knowledge of high velocity bullets is no basis to conclude that Dr. Hayne did not. The characterization of Dr. Hayne's testimony on the point as "incredible" is ludicrous, just as are the many similar characterizations concerning other witnesses in the Appellant's brief in the case at bar. The Appellant's self-serving opinions as to what he considers "incredible" testimony are of no assistance to this Court.

The Appellant then spends his last six pages of his brief in an attempt to demonstrate why the admission of Hayne's testimony cannot be harmless error. In this effort, the Appellant cites the dissent in *Haynes v. State*, 934 So.2d 983 (Miss. 2006), apparently for the purpose of having this Court re-define what will be considered harmless error. There is neither need nor purpose to be served in engaging in an academic exercise concerning statements made in a dissent here.

The Court is told that the admission of Hayne's testimony violated a substantial right of the Appellant's. However, the Court is left to itself to divine what right that might be. In any event, Hayne's testimony was not merely conjecture on his part. Nor did Dr. Hayne try to tie the Appellant to the murder weapon. Hayne merely testified as to why he thought the bullet that killed Robinson was a high velocity bullet. Hayne said nothing about the identity of the shooter.

In the event that this Court should find that the Third Assignment of Error is before the Court and that it was error to permit Hayne to testify as to the nature of the bullet that killed Robinson, any such error would be harmless. The record is very clear on the point that the Appellant was armed

with the SKS rifle just before and after the shooting, that the Appellant told Jones that he would be shooting at Robinson's car, and that Jones saw Appellant do just that. This evidence was more than enough to permit the Appellant's conviction for murder. Despite the Appellant's effort to cloud the matter, the fact of the matter is that this is not a close case. Hayne's testimony on this point cannot be reasonably said to have affected the final result in the case at bar in view of the eyewitness testimony against the Appellant. This being so, any such error – and we certainly do not concede that it was error to admit this testimony – was strictly harmless. *Ross v. State*, 22 So.3rd 400, 411 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009)(citing *Catholic Diocese of Natchez-Jackson v. Jaquith*, 224 So.2d 216 (Miss. 1969)).

The Third Assignment of Error is without merit.

## CONCLUSION

The Appellant's convictions and sentences should be affirmed.